EFFECTS OF ALPHA-MANGOSTIN ON HEMATOPOIESIS IN ZEBRAFISH *Danio rerio* (Hamilton, 1822) EMBRYOS



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Zoology Department of Biology Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ผลของแอลฟาแมงโกสทินต่อการกำเนิดเม็ดเลือด ในเอ็มบริโอของปลาม้าลาย *Danio rerio* (Hamilton, 1822)



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาสัตววิทยา ภาควิชาชีววิทยา คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	EFFECTS OF ALPHA-MANGOSTIN ON HEMATOPOIESIS		
	IN ZEBRAFISH Danio rerio (Hamilton, 1822) EMBRYOS		
Ву	Miss Wannakarn Kitipaspallop		
Field of Study	Zoology		
Thesis Advisor	Professor Chanpen Chanchao, Ph.D.		
Thesis Co Advisor	Wittaya Pimtong, Ph.D.		

Accepted by the Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

Dean of the Faculty of Science

(Professor Polkit Sangvanich, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman
(Assistant Professor Noppadon Kitana, Ph.D.)
Thesis Advisor
(Professor Chanpen Chanchao, Ph.D.)
Thesis Co-Advisor
(Wittaya Pimtong, Ph.D.)
Examiner
(Assistant Professor SITTIPORN PATTARADILOKRAT, Ph.D.)
External Examiner

(Sittiruk Roytrakul, Ph.D.)

วรรณกานต์ กิตติภาสน์พัลลภ : ผลของแอลฟาแมงโกสทินต่อการกำเนิดเม็ดเลือด ใน เอ็มบริโอของปลาม้าลาย *Danio rerio* (Hamilton, 1822). (EFFECTS OF ALPHA-MANGOSTIN ON HEMATOPOIESIS IN ZEBRAFISH *Danio rerio* (Hamilton, 1822) EMBRYOS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ศ. ดร. จันทร์เพ็ญ จันทร์เจ้า, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : ดร.วิทยา พิมทอง

แอลฟาแมงโกสทินเป็นสารในกลุ่มของแซนโทนซึ่งเป็นองค์ประกอบหลักที่ได้จากการ สกัดมังคุด Garcinia mangostana Linn. พบว่า แอลฟาแมงโกสทินมีประสิทธิภาพในการต้าน อนุมูลอิสระ ต้านการเติบโตของแบคทีเรีย และต้านการเพิ่มจำนวนของเซลล์มะเร็ง อย่างไรก็ตาม ข้อมูลเกี่ยวกับผลข้างเคียงที่มีต่อเซลล์ปกติ โดยเฉพาะผลที่มีต่อการกำเนิดเม็ดเลือดยังไม่สมบูรณ์ งานวิจัยนี้จึงมีจุดประสงค์เพื่อศึกษาผลกระทบของแอลฟาแมงโกสทินที่มีต่อการกำเนิดเม็ดเลือด โดยใช้เอ็มบริโอปลาม้าลาย Danio rerio เป็นโมเดล พบว่า แอลฟาแมงโกสทินทำให้เอ็มบริโอ ปลาม้าลายเกิดการตายเพิ่มตามระดับความเข้มข้นที่สูงขึ้น โดยมีค่าความเข้มข้นของสารที่ส่งผลให้ เอ็มบริโอปลาม้าลายตาย 50% (median lethal concentration, LC₅₀) ที่ 72 ชั่วโมง เท่ากับ 5.75 ± 0.26 µM นอกจากนี้ยังส่งผลให้เอ็มบริโอปลาม้าลายมีความผิดปกติ เช่น เยื่อหุ้มหัวใจบวม โต หางและลำตัวงอผิดรูป และการอุดตันของเลือด ยิ่งไปกว่านั้น คือ ทำให้ระดับฮีโมโกลบินใน หัวใจของเอ็มบริโอปลาม้าลายลดลงอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ นอกจากนี้แอลฟาแมงโกสทินยัง ส่งผลให้การแสดงออกของยืน spi1b, mpx และ hbae1.1 ซึ่งเกี่ยวข้องกับการกำเนิดเม็ดเลือดใน ระดับของการถอดรหัสทางพันธุกรรมเพิ่มขึ้นอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ แต่ในทางตรงกันข้ามกลับไม่ ส่งผลต่อการแสดงออกของยืนกลุ่มดังกล่าวในระดับของการแปลรหัสทางพันธุกรรม ถึงแม้ว่าก่อน หน้านี้ได้มีการรายงานฤทธิ์ทางชีวภาพของแอลฟาแมงโกสทินอย่างแพร่หลาย แต่ในงานวิจัยนี้แสดง ให้เห็นว่า การใช้สารดังกล่าวในระดับความเข้มข้นที่มากกว่า 3 µM ทำให้เกิดผลข้างเคียงต่อการ เจริญของเอ็มบริโอปลาม้าลายในระยะแรก และนำไปสู่ความเป็นพิษต่อระบบการกำเนิดเม็ดเลือด ได้

สาขาวิชา	สัตววิทยา	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
ปีการศึกษา	2561	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
		ลายบือซื่อ อ ที่ปรึกษาร่วบ

5972051023 : MAJOR ZOOLOGY

KEYWORD: Alpha-mangostin, Zebrafish, Hematopoiesis, Toxicity
Wannakarn Kitipaspallop : EFFECTS OF ALPHA-MANGOSTIN ON HEMATOPOIESIS
IN ZEBRAFISH Danio rerio (Hamilton, 1822) EMBRYOS. Advisor: Prof. Chanpen Chanchao, Ph.D. Co-advisor: Wittaya Pimtong, Ph.D.

Alpha-mangostin (AM) is in the xanthone group and a main compound extracted from mangosteen (Garcinia mangostana Linn.). It is effective in antioxidant, antimicrobe and anticancer activities. However, the underlying side effects on normal cells, especially in hematopoiesis have not been investigated completely. In this research, it was aimed to elucidate the possible effects of AM on hematopoiesis using zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryos as a representative model. The results showed that AM could cause the zebrafish embryonic mortality with the concentration dependent manner. The median lethal concentration (LC_{50}) of AM at 72 h was 5.75 \pm 0.26 μ M. In addition, AM induced a zebrafish embryonic malformation such as pericardial edema, tail malformation, body malformation and blood clotting. Furthermore, the hemoglobin level in a zebrafish embryo's cardiac region was decreased significantly by AM. In addition, at the transcriptional level, AM increased the gene expression of spi1b, mpx and hbae1.1 which were representatives of hematopoietic related genes significantly. On the other hand, AM had no effect on the expression of those genes at the translational level. Although it has been widely reported that AM has many bioactivities, in this research, it revealed the side effects of AM at the concentration higher than 3 µM on the early stage of zebrafish embryonic development and the toxicity on the

hematopoietic system. Field of Study: Zoology Academic Year: 2018

Student's Signature
Advisor's Signature
Co-advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work in this thesis could be completely successful with the support from the Nanotechnology Safety and Risk Assessment Laboratory, National Nanotechnology Center of Thailand and Department of Biology, Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to my advisor, Professor Dr. Chanpen Chanchao for her meaningful guidance, invaluable suggestions and kindness throughout this study.

I also would like to express my deep appreciation to my co-advisor, Dr. Wittaya Pimtong for the continuous support of my Master research, for his patience, motivation, encouragement and enthusiasm. Besides, he has always supported me in various ways throughout my research.

My sincere thanks also go to all staffs at the Nanotechnology Safety and Risk Assessment Laboratory for their support and laboratory help.

I am truly thankful to Dr. Tawin Iempridee and all members in Nano-Molecular Target Discovery Laboratory for their help, knowledge and technical supports.

I also would like to thank all thesis committees for their suggestions and discussion.

Finally, I would to express my appreciation to my parents who always give me understanding and supports throughout my life.

Wannakarn Kitipaspallop

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pag	e
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF FIGURES	
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Background and rationale11	
1.2. Research Objective	
1.3. Research Hypothesis	
1.4. Places of study	
CHAPTER II LITTERATURE REVIEW	
2.1. Alpha-mangostin (AM)	
2.1.1. Biological and pharmacological properties of AM	
2.1.1.1. Anticancer properties	
2.1.1.2. Antioxidant properties	
2.1.1.3. Anti-inflammatory properties	
2.1.2. Pharmacokinetic	
2.1.3. Toxicity	
2.2. Zebrafish	
2.2.1. Background of zebrafish	
2.2.2. The advantages of zebrafish	

2.2.3. Zebrafish model for toxicity testing	26
2.3. Hematopoiesis	27
2.3.1. Zebrafish and mammalian hematopoiesis	28
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	32
3.1. Methods	32
3.1.1. Zebrafish maintenance and embryos collecting	32
3.1.2. Zebrafish embryos acute toxicity assay	32
3.1.3. Hemoglobin staining by <i>o</i> -dianisidine solution	33
3.1.4. Gene expression by quantitative reverse transcriptase real-time PCR	
(qRT-PCR)	34
3.1.5. Protein expression by western blotting	35
3.1.6. Statistical analysis	36
CHAPTER IV RESULT	37
4.1. The effects of alpha-mangostin (AM) treatment on zebrafish embryos	37
4.2. The effects of AM on hemoglobin level	39
4.3. The effects of AM on the expression of hematopoietic genes	41
4.4. The effects of AM on the expression of hematopoietic proteins	43
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	45
VITA	60

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1 Chemical structures of xanthone derivatives [24]	.16
Figure 2 Adult Male and female zebrafish [63]	.24
Figure 3 Overall of hematopoiesis of zebrafish in both primitive and definitive wave	e29
Figure 4 Acute toxicity testing of zebrafish embryos after treated with AM	. 38
Figure 5 Hemoglobin detection in cardiac area of AM-treated in selected condition	. 40
Figure 6 Relative gene expression levels of hematopoietic-related genes	.42
Figure 7 Protein expression in zebrafish embryos exposed to AM	. 44



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abs	Absorbance
AM	Alpha-mangostin
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ALM	Anterior lateral mesoderm
°C	degree Celsius
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
DI water	Distilled water
dpf	Days post fertilization
Gata1a	GATA binding protein 1a
g	Gram
IC ₅₀	Half maximal inhibitory concentration
Hbae1.1	Hemoglobin alpha embryonic 1.1
h	Hour
HSCs	Hematopoietic stem cells
hpf	Hours post fertilization
IOD จุฬาลงกรร	Integrated optical density
ICM CHULALONG	Intermediate cell mass
IL-8	Interleukin 8
IEC	Intestinal epithelial cells
kg	Kilogram
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LD ₅₀	Median lethal dose
ME	Mangosteen extraction compound
mg	Milligram
Мрх	Myeloid-specific peroxidase

min	Minutes
mm	Millimeter
OECD	Organisation Economic Co-operation and
	Development
μι	Microliter
μm	Micrometer
PLM	Posterior lateral mesoderm
PTU	Phenylthiourea
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
qRT-PCR	Quantitative reverse transcriptase real time
	polymerase chain reaction
REC	Retinal endothelial cells
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
VEGF	Vascular endothelium growth factor
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
Spi1b	Spi-1 proto-oncogene b
Tal1 จหาลงกรร	T-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia 1
TBST CHULALONGK	Tris buffered saline with tween
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background and rationale

Over the past decades, natural plant products have been widely used as a traditional medicine for relieving human diseases. Due to their incredible potentials, more than 80 percent of the world's human populations use them as an alternative remedy [1]. Natural plant products have drawn the interest from researchers due to a great value of their pharmacological properties; thereby, they become the special issue. Mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana* Linn.) is one such well-known plant which has been studied since a wide array of their pharmacological potentials [2].

There have had long stories about mangosteen in Southeast Asia used as traditional medicine. By scientific approach, mangosteen contains major secondary metabolite called alpha-mangostin (AM), one of the xanthone derivatives. AM exhibited stronger bioactivities than other derivatives such as decreasing inflammatory cytokines [3], high activity of free radical scavenging [4] and also suppressing the viability of cancer cell lines [5]. In recent year, the popularity and the consumption of mangosteen-based products have been increasing as dietary supplements, cosmetics, food additives and medicinal appliances [6]. Consumers use botanical supplements as an alternative way for health maintenance since they believe that natural products are safer than conventional drugs. This perception can lead to improper dose intake resulting in toxic effects [7, 8]. Supported by previous research, some health problems can be associated with dietary supplement consumption like hepatotoxicity, liver, kidney and heart toxicities [7-10]. In case of AM, although this compound has various benefits and is widely used in industry, only a few researches have studied about its toxicity profiles. Thereby, the information about side effects even the toxicities should be evaluated, especially on hematopoietic system.

The overall process of blood cell formation during embryonic development is called hematopoiesis. This process begins during the first week of gastrulation in animal development which is important for providing the oxygen and homeostasis. Hematopoiesis can adversely affect health and crucial for survival; therefore, this process has been intensively studied for understanding blood disorder, cytokine network as well as oncogenesis [11, 12]. Subsequently, this complex process can be influenced by various factors such as environment, chemical, food additive and drug therapy [13]. A defect in hematopoiesis can lead to unbalance in blood cell production. Decreasing the red and white blood cell concentration can cause oxygen supply as well as lead to insufficiency and inefficiency of the immune system [14]. Taken together, chemical effects on hematopoiesis is an essential part that should be considered.

To study toxic effects of hematopoiesis, using mammals are very difficult. Non-transparency of their body is not allowed to detect any defect in real time. Interestingly, zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryos are transparent resulting in the easiness to monitor and manipulate under a microscope [15]. Furthermore, at least one of 70% approximately of protein-coding genes in human have orthologs in zebrafish, and 84% of disease-related genes also have been identified in zebrafish [16]. Additionally, the molecular mechanisms in hematopoietic development between human and zebrafish are conserved. The mechanism for generating of all blood cell types in zebrafish has been shown to be similar to that of human, including erythroid, myeloid and lymphoid lineages. Moreover, the essential transcription factor genes which associated in hematopoiesis in zebrafish have orthologs to human [17, 18]. For mutagenesis screening, zebrafish can be used as the reference model for representing the defect in human hematopoiesis since the key genes have already been studied. Thus, zebrafish emerged as a powerful model to represent the effects on hematopoiesis such as leukemia, anemia, inflammation and innate immune response that contribute to clearly understand the core regulation of these diseases [19-21].

As described above, several researches reported the benefits of AM but only a few research concerned about the side effects despite evaluating the possible toxicity is an essential step. Hence, the objective of this work is to investigate the effects of AM on hematopoiesis in zebrafish *Danio rerio* (Hamilton, 1822) embryos. Embryos were exposed to AM with different concentrations for screening the toxicity and selecting the working doses. Then, the effects on hematopoiesis by measuring hemoglobin and gene expression levels were focused. The expression levels of five genes related to hematopoiesis: *T-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia 1 (tal1), GATA binding protein 1a (gata1a), hemoglobin alpha embryonic 1.1 (hbae1.1), Spi-1 proto-oncogene b (spi1b)* and *myeloid-specific peroxidase (mpx)* were determined through quantitative reverse transcriptase real time PCR (qRT-PCR) and western blot assay, respectively. Finally, the obtained data will provide the safe dose and possible mechanism on hematopoietic system of AM *in vivo*.

1.2. Research Objective

To investigate the effects of alpha-mangostin on the early stage of embryonic development and hematopoiesis in zebrafish embryos.

1.3. Research Hypothesis

AM, especially in unsuitable dose, has side effects on hematopoietic system in zebrafish embryos.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

1.4. Places of study LALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

National Science and Technology Development Agency, National Nanotechnology Center, Phatum Thani, Thailand.

CHAPTER II

LITTERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Alpha-mangostin (AM)

Herbal medicines have more than thousands years of history in the world. Nowadays even though chemically synthesized medicines have been developed, many people still rely on herbal treatment [22]. Mangosteen is an outstanding example of natural product.

Because of many health benefits, mangosteen has been used as a traditional folk medicine for centuries. Every part of mangosteen, peel, rind, hull or ripe, has strongly potential for reliving human diseases. The rind of mangosteen can be used for treating diarrhea, fever and skin ailment. For mangosteen leave, some people use as food additive for dysentery, fever and thrush. The pericarps of this fruit are also used for defending skin infection, abdominal pain and trauma [23]. Additionally, mangosteen also has a great flavor and delightful smell, therefore, it is generally known as "the queen of fruits" [24]. Accordingly, mangosteen is used in many industries as an important ingredient for developing the products such as herbal supplements, beverages, and medical appliances. Hence, mangosteen-based products easily become the top selling in the United States [25].

For phytochemical studies, mangosteen contains several of secondary metabolizes, with great chemoprotective properties, including xanthones. More than 68 types of xanthones can be derived from the whole fruit of mangosteen, mostly in pericarp such as alpha-mangostin, beta-mangostin, gamma-mangostin and garcinones (Figure 1). For chemical structures, xanthones consist of a tricyclic aromatic system with a C_6 - C_3 -C skeleton, A and B benzyl ring are located by isoprene, methoxyl and hydroxyl groups in different location. Xanthones exhibited the remarkable biological activities; thereby, these compounds have been the most studied in several researches. Antioxidant, anticancer, anti-inflammation and antimicrobial properties

are some of main pharmacological properties of xanthones that have been reported [26-28].

Among xanthone derivatives, the first compound that could be extracted was alpha-mangostin (AM) (Figure 1). AM was found in 1855 by Schmid et al. and the structure was revealed by Dragendorff (1930) and Murakami (1932), respectively [29-31]. The molecular formula of this compound is $C_{14}H_{22}O_6$ with 410.46 of molecular weight. AM is the most abundant xanthone, presenting in a dried pericarp at the concentration 5.5 mg/g [32]. Among xanthone derivatives, AM gains the greatest attention from researchers because of the notable of their medicinal properties.





Figure 1 Chemical structures of xanthone derivatives [24]

2.1.1. Biological and pharmacological properties of AM

2.1.1.1. Anticancer properties

Cancer is a deadly disease caused by multifactor. More than million people died from cancer and the new cases of patients extensively increase every year. Nowadays, the best way for treating cancer is still incomplete; therefore, combination therapies are a good choice for patients. A plant-based diets, phytochemicals, also have been used for decreasing the risk of cancer and AM is an interesting phytochemical possessing a potential anticarcinogenic effect [33, 34]. One of anticarcinogenic activities of AM is suppressing cancer promotion and progression by initiation of cell cycle arrest as well as induction of apoptosis. Johnson et al. found that AM decreasing cell viability of human prostate cancer cells (LNCaP) with median maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) of 5.9 µM at 48 h. For mechanism of action, AM directly inhibited cyclins/cyclin dependent kinases which responsible for cell cycle promoting; therefore, cancer cell was loss its ability to proliferate [35]. Additionally, Matsumoto et al. also found the antiproliferative activities of AM in human colon cancer cells (DLD-1). This compound inhibited DLD-1 cell growth at 20.0 µM after 24 h of exposure and up-regulated the expression levels of p27 protein which playing a role in cell cycle machinery. Interestingly, AM could eliminate the hyperproliferation of neoplastic cells by inducing cell apoptosis. AM caused the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential in hepatocellular carcinoma cells (SK-Hep-1) resulted from mitochondrial caspase apoptotic pathway triggered with a half number of cell viability at the concentration of 19.6 µM at 48 h, approximately [36]. Subsequently, AM also acts as suppressing agent to suppress abnormal angiogenesis that resulted in inhibiting tumor cell growth and metastasis. Jittiporn et al. conducted the experiment through hypoxia-treated bovine retinal endothelial cells (REC) and reported that AM significantly decreased cell viability at the concentration greater than 8 µM after 24 h of exposure. In hypoxia-induced condition, AM reduced ROS formation that also resulting in suppressing vascular endothelial growth factor (VGEF) activities. This research also revealed the effects of AM on anti-angiogenesis that AM could inhibit VEGF migration, proliferation as well as hyperpermeability. From these results, AM is useful for protecting abnormal neovascularization in retinal which is an important cause of vision loss [37]. Another interesting research was conducted by Matsumoto et al. The researchers examined the effects of six xanthones isolated from pericarp of mangosteen to human leukemia cell HL60. AM displayed the highest growth inhibitory effects compared to other derivatives with IC_{50} of 10 μ M at 72 h. This effect was induced by cell apoptosis which activated through caspase-3 pathway [38]. Moreover, AM was also investigated for the anti-tumor activities performing in animal models, mostly in nude mice. For instance, Lee et al. reported the antitumor effect of AM on tongue mucoepidermoid carcinoma cells (Y-D 15) in BALB/c nude mice. YD-15 cells were subcutaneously injected to five weeks old mice and started treating with AM at the concentration 10 and 20 mg/kg BW by intraperitoneal injection when the tumors were palpable. The results showed AM treatment could significantly reduce tumor volume in apoptosis pathway, as confirmed by TUNEL assay [39]. Nabandith et al. studied, four weeks old male F344 rats were fed with a diet containing 0.02% and 0.05% of AM for a week and then subcutaneously injected with 1, 2-dimethyhydrazine, cancer inducing agent, 40 mg/kg BW for two weeks. After terminating at the fifth week, the result showed that AM in all concentrations inhibited the development of aberrant crypt foci, dysplastic foci and beta-catenin accumulated crypts which are a biomarker for short-term colon carcinogenesis. Therefore, exposure AM in long-term might suppress tumor development. This research pointed out the evidence of anti-cancer properties of AM as a chemoprotective substance by preventing preneoplastic cell proliferation in rat colon carcinoma cells [40]. For clinical trial, AM could use combining with modern chemotherapy drugs for increasing their efficiency as well as decreasing their side effects. Acute renal injury is the side effect from cisplatin (CDDP) which widely used as chemotherapeutic agent for treating the tumors in ovary, testis, bladder and endometrium. Sanchez-Perez et al. co-incubated proximal tubule renal epithelial cells (LLC-PK1) with CDDP (100 μ M) and AM (5 μ M) for 24 h. The researcher found that (1) AM protected CDDP-induced cells from apoptosis and increased cell viability, (2) AM reduced ROS generating from CPPD-induced cells and (3) this compound also suppressed the expression of apoptotic mediator protein, p53. Based on these

results, AM had a potential for protecting the cells from side effects which caused from chemotherapy drugs [41]. Accordingly, AM is one of promising phytochemicals that should be developed for cancer treatment and prevention.

2.1.1.2. Antioxidant properties

ROS is associated with human health, resulting in several health problems such as neurodegenerative, cancer and skin aging. To reduce the amount of ROS, many natural substances have a high antioxidant capacity and got a lot of attention from researchers [42]. AM is one of natural products that showed protective activity against the free radical. Devi Sampath et al. evaluated antioxidant properties of AM using isoproterenol (150 mg/kg BW) to induce myocardial infarction in Wistar rat model. This induction led to overexpress of ROS generation through elevating lipid peroxidase and decreasing the activities of endogenous antioxidants, superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione-S-transferase and reduced glutathione. After orally pre-treated with AM at the concentration 200 mg/kg of body weight per day for 6 days and followed by isoproterenol for 2 days leading to significant reduce the levels of lipid peroxidase and restore the activities of antioxidant enzymes. Moreover, they examined the histology of heart in pretreated group and had not detected any signs of adverse pathology. This finding revealed the defensing capacities of AM against oxidative stress [43]. Additionally, Buelna-Chontal et al. also discovered the protective effect of AM on the reperfusion injury in cardiac area. The heart tissue was obtained from male Wistar rat and rapidly fixed onto a Langendorff heart perfusion system. The heart was subjected to ischemia for 30 min and followed by reperfusing for 60 min, respectively. During reperfused process, AM was treated to the heart at the concentration 2.5 µM. Finally, AM showed a role in the cardiac mechanic including reduced the infarction area, prevented the fall off cardiac ATP and phosphocreatine levels in the refused myocardium. This research also reported other protective properties of AM such as an ability for reducing oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation and glutathione content [44]. Moreover, AM had the protective effect against age-related macular degeneration by suppressing oxidative stress performing. Fang et al. examined these effects on retinal heath both in *in vivo* and *in vitro* models. For *in vivo* model, female balb/c mice, 8 weeks old, were orally administered with 10 mg/kg BW and 30 mg/kg BW of AM for 7 days and exposed to white light for inducing retinal dysfunction. After 24 h of light exposure mice were scarified and conducted the retinal section. At 30 mg/kg BW, AM showed the abilities to maintain photoreceptor function and protect cell apoptosis in lightinduced retina. For in vitro model, human retinal pigment epithelial cells (ARPE-19) were pretreated with AM (4, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 20, 30 and 40 μ M) for 24 h and then induced cell stressed by incubating in hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) (200 μ M) for 24 h. AM in range of 4-12 µM could increase cell viability and reduce apoptosis rate in H₂O₂-induced cells. Furthermore, ROS and lipid peroxidase production were decreased in AM-pretreated cells. In summary, AM not only exert antioxidant capacities but also protect the possible effects on retinal health [45]. In clinical trial, Xie et al. found that consuming a mangosteen-based beverage (245 mL) everyday leading to increase antioxidant biomarkers in plasma. 60 healthy adults both men and women received mangosteen-based drink for 30 days. Every day in the morning, participants were drawn their blood for collecting the plasma after fasting for 8 h and recorded physical details, body weight, BMI, blood pressure and heart rate. For these physical measurements, the results were not showed significantly different between treated and non-treated group. For antioxidant status, AM had potentially increased antioxidant activities in the bloodstream, measured by oxygen radical absorbance capacity assay. Interestingly, the researches recommended mangosteen-rich drink because of its ability and did not alter the hepatic and renal functions [46]. From all information above, it should be noted that AM has a various role of antioxidation properties.

2.1.1.3. Anti-inflammatory properties

Inflammation is a pathological condition that characterized by vasodilatation, fluid exudation and neutrophil infiltration [47]. This condition can promote several diseases including cardiovascular diseases, cancer and chronic inflammation diseases. To reduce the risk of inflammation, medicinal plant with anti-inflammation effects have been used as an alternative remedies [48]. AM has been prescribed to modulate an inflammatory response in human body. In the research conducted by Guierrez et al. showed that AM inhibited the production of nitric oxide, proinflammatory mediator, on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced in murine macrophage cell line (RAW 264.7) at the concentration in range of 1-10 μ M. Additionally, the researchers measured anti-inflammatory activities using biomarker of inflammation, interleukin 8 (IL-8) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-**Q**), and found that AM significantly attenuated the secretion of both inflammatory markers [49]. The potential effects of AM in anti-inflammatory property also revealed by Zou et al. via LPS-induced inflammatory model of rat intestinal epithelial cells (IEC-6). The results showed the ability of AM to decrease LPS-induced IEC-6 cells apoptosis as well as inflammatory cytokines production [50]. Thus, AM exerted a high anti-inflammatory activity for considering as a substitute substance to treat the diseases causing by inflammation.

2.1.2. Pharmacokinetic

Pharmacokinetics is the essential information for generating and approving the new drugs. It provides the mechanism and biological properties which are necessary for human clinical trials as well as adjusting the proper doses [51]. To follow pharmacokinetic process, absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion have been quantified [52]. In case of AM, Li et al. investigated its pharmacokinetics in male Sprague Dawley rat plasma comparing between intravenous and oral application. In each rat was firstly exposed to AM (2 mg/kg BW) by intravenous injection. After washout period for a week, the same rat was received AM (20 mg/kg) by oral administration. Blood samples (500 μ l) at 2, 5, 10, 20, 30 min, 1, 2, 4 and 6 h were used for analyzing pharmacokinetic factors. For intravenous application, the bioavailability was fast distribution and slow elimination with 3 min of half-life in distribution phase along with 3.5 h of terminal elimination phase, respectively. This result suggested that AM has a high tissue binding for intravenous administration. In

the contrary, oral administration was low bioavailability; therefore it was impossible to receive a complete concentration-time profile. Confirmed by Li et al., AM has low oral bioavailability owing to extensive first-pass metabolism as well as poor absorption [53, 54]. Interestingly about pharmacokinetics between AM pure active compound and AM in mangosteen extraction compound (ME), Choi et al. monitored their efficiency via tissue absorption, distribution, metabolism and safety using mouse model. After intraperitoneal administration, AM pure compound had a lower median lethal dose (LD₅₀) than AM in mangosteen extract, 150.0 mg/kg and 231.5 mg/kg, respectively, whereas all mice survived even at the maximum concentration (1.0 g/kg) in oral administration. For tissue distributions, the amount of AM in each organ tissues are variable depending on multifactor including administration routes, sampling time and chemical constitutes [55]. In conclusion, all findings about pharmacokinetics of AM are helpful to design the proper doses for human clinical trial and increase the awareness for safety.

2.1.3. Toxicity

Although AM has a great chemoprotective effects and gains a lot of attention from researchers, the information about its toxicity and safety are still limited. Ibrahim et al. demonstrated the toxic effects of AM from *Cratoxylum arborescens* both in *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. In general observation, AM did not cause mortality and has no effects on behavior as well as on physical appearance in ICR mice even in the highest dose (1.0 g/kg). After autopsy, histopathology of mice in treated and non-treated groups did not showed any defects, necrosis, inflammation and cirrhosis. In an *in vitro* study, AM also had no toxic to normal liver cells (WRL-68) [56]. More interestingly, Lui et al. investigated the effects of AM on rat platelet. The results revealed that AM could cause non-aggregation of platelet cells in the range of 1-10 μ M and directly induce platelets shape change as well as stimulate cytolysis of the platelet cells [57]. Importantly, platelet toxicant can lead to hemostasis failure and platelet dysfunction, resulting in cardiovascular toxicants [58].

Taken together, dietary supplement base on mangosteen extract is on a fast growing market in the USA. Many products had mangosteen extract as a main ingredient, for instance, antibacterial face mark, acne patch and wound-aid gauze pad from Germ Guard[®] Technology. These products were warranted for inhibiting bacterial growth both of gram negative and positive. Wound-aid gauze pad was used in clinical trial in patients with curing burn wound having 70% of dead tissue. After using this pad, the wound was healed completely within 2 weeks. Moreover, people are bombarded by many advertisements that usually refer to their health promoting properties while the safety dose-limiting may indeed fulfill. For AM, almost researches have focused on its protective effects but the information specifically on toxicities only a few researches have been reported. In fact, to develop traditional medicine for medicinal use, it is necessary to consider about safety and risk assessment for adjusting the suitable doses for clinical trial. As describe above, AM has side effects on hematopoietic system, it is one of the critical point that should be studied. Normally, the experimental about toxicity testing always comes from cell culture and rodent models, whereas in the hematopoietic system it is difficult to detect the possible side effects in real time since their bodies are non-transparently. One of the effective models that represent the transparent body with an impressive ability for toxicities is zebrafish (Danio rerio).

ู่หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

2.2. Zebrafish CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT

2.2.1. Background of zebrafish

The zebrafish, *Danio rerio* (Hamilton, 1822), is a tropical freshwater fish that become a well-known vertebrate model organism using in many fields in scientific research. The name *Danio* is mean "of the rice flied" which is derived from the Bengali name "*dhani*" [59]. Zebrafish was originally from Himalayan region and nowadays they are available worldwide. They are omnivorous, consuming zooplankton, phytoplankton, insect as well as algae [60]. For taxonomy status, zebrafish belong to minnow family and the classification of this species is shown as below.

Kingdom Animalia Phylum Chordata Class Actinopterygii Order Cypriniformes Family Cyprinidae Subfamily Danioninae Genus Danio Species Danio rerio

The standard lengths from the tip of nose to the posterior end of vertebra of zebrafish are around 3.0 cm in lenght, rarely exceeding 4.0 cm. Zebrafish have three types of pigment cell including dark blue melanophores, gold xanthophores and iridescent iridophores. The pigment performs after 24 hours post fertilized (hpf) and can be inhibited by phenylthiourea (PTU) within 24 h leading to visual the internal organs obviously [61]. The main color of their body is silvery white with blue strips line on the side of their body which similarly to zebra's stripes. Zebrafish have sex differentiation that can be used to identify male and female. Male zebrafish are tend to pinkish and yellowish coloration with lager anal fins and slender shape while female zebrafish tend to have white and blue coloring and rounded shape with lager belly (Figure 2) [62].

Chulalongkorn University



Figure 2 Adult Male and female zebrafish [63]

In reproduction behavior, all gonads start developing as ovaries and completely differentiate to normal testis at the third month after hatching. Zebrafish become sexual maturity around 3-4 months and no seasonal breeding cycle in domesticated zebrafish. Females are capable to spawn twice a week containing hundreds of eggs in each clutch [64]. Zebrafish eggs are transparent and non-adhesive with 0.7 mm. of diameter, approximately. Heart beating of embryos starts around 24 h and appears all precursors of major organs within 36 h and subsequently following by hatching between 48-72 h. Zebrafish embryos develop rapidly comparing with other vertebrates [65]. The reproduction and development potentials are the reasons making zebrafish become popular as the vertebrate model in several flied researches, especially in toxicology.

2.2.2. The advantages of zebrafish

Zebrafish firstly have been used as alternative vertebrate model organism in the late 1960s by George Streisinger. They have numerous advantages that providing the new insights in Biology; therefore, the number of scientific researches using zebrafish was increasing rapidly [66].

One of the beneficial properties of zebrafish is the ease to maintain and care than other animal models because they are robust and small size so the large numbers of zebrafish can be raised in a laboratory. Additionally, they require only the small space for housing and the maintenance cost also cheaper comparing to other model organism such as rodent [67].

Another main advantage of zebrafish is the high potential of reproduction and rapid development. A single female can generate hundreds of offspring in each week that ready for supporting the large experimental sample in researches. Furthermore, adult zebrafish have an external fertilization that can control their ovulation by light and the eggs are optically clear which easy to display the embryo insight. Because of the complete transparent of embryos, it is easy to monitor and manipulate the internal organs as well as the development stage in real time under simple microscopy without scarification the fish. Specifically, transparent embryos are useful for investigating the effects in toxicology testing with non-invasive and powerful techniques that increasing an accurate outcomes. Moreover, the rapid development of zebrafish helps researchers screening their experimentation endpoint easily and also saving time for producing the transgenic lines. Hence, zebrafish have been used as a model for studying the basic development such as cell-fate determination, organ and neuronal development [67-69].

The highly genetic pathways conservation between zebrafish and human is also beneficial. Zebrafish share a high degree of their sequence and functional gene 70%, approximately, similarly to human. Additionally, 84% of human diseases genes match in zebrafish genome therefore zebrafish widely used for getting in deep the mechanism of diseases specifically in hematopoiesis [16, 70]. The hematopoietic system between zebrafish and human are highly conserved. The important steps and signaling molecules as well as the blood cell types in the underlying system of zebrafish are similarly to human [71]. Together, the advantages allow researchers to create transgenic development, gene mutation and specific gene knockdown which can be revealed the gene function. In overall, zebrafish posse a high potential laboratory model for deeper understanding as well as providing the new knowledge in genetically researches.

Finally, using zebrafish as a vertebrate laboratory model extensively provides many beneficial properties over mammalian model. This species is invaluable not only providing the new information but also applying in various researches.

2.2.3. Zebrafish model for toxicity testing

Toxicity testing for safety and risk assessment of substances is an essential process that should be established for developing the new drugs. In preclinical toxicity testing, it is recommended the information including the toxicity mechanism, toxicodynamic, toxicity endpoint and the proper dose response. For screening the compound impact, numerous researches studied via animal models and zebrafish is one of a great representative organisms. In brief, zebrafish are advantageous more than other vertebrate models because zebrafish embryos can prescreen the toxicities of several chemicals at a time. They are small size so many replicates can be performed together at the same time and the embryos able to absorb the testing chemicals that have been added to medium easily [67]. Additionally, toxicity testing using this species decreases the waste disposal and reduces the chemical volume [72]. In case of heart malformed embryos, they can survive continuously more than 24 h because the embryos directly exchange the gas with environment whereas the gas exchange of rodent embryos depend on circulation system therefore rodent embryos with an abnormal heart always die in utero. This advantage allows the researcher exposing the chemical to abnormal embryos while they still alive [73]. Another evident that supports the effective of zebrafish as an alternative model for chemical testing is a case of thalidomide defect. Thalidomide is a sedative drug released in the late 1950's that had been widely used for treating morning sickness in pregnant women. This drug distributed around the world and easily became the top selling drug in the market with the advertisement that it is completely safe. Soon after, thalidomide was banned in 1961 because this drug can cause peripheral neuropathy and severe birth defects. Oddly in drug screening, mice were not susceptible to thalidomide damage meaning different species showed different reactions [74]. On the other hand, zebrafish model revealed the defects that caused by thalidomide such as lack of pectoral fin, loss of embryonic development-related genes and stopped blood vessels development through inhibiting actin skeleton dynamics [75-77]. This evident suggests that zebrafish model has a high sensitivity and a great representative for chemical testing that can prevent the possible effects and improve drug safety. Overall, toxicity testing strategies using zebrafish provide the meaningful impacts in safety chemical which could be related to human health specifically in hematopoietic system.

2.3. Hematopoiesis

Hematopoiesis is an essential system which amenable for all steps of blood cell formation responsible for carrying the oxygen, promoting organ development as well as protecting organs from pathogens [78]. This process maintains the blood production throughout organism's lifetime [79]. Hematopoiesis comprises of multipotent stem cells firstly deriving to progenitor cells that have no the self-renewal property. Next, all progenitor cells differentiate to precursor cells in specific linage and lastly turn into the mature cells. The process initiates in early stage of embryos depending on the species which influenced by the action of growth factors and cytokines [80]. Hematopoietic system is a paradigm for studying general stem cell biology leading to understand cellular interaction, the mechanism of aging and diseases [81, 82]. Importantly, hematopoietic system has an intensive activity of cells proliferation therefore this system is very sensitive to chemical substances. Additionally, radiation, virus and infective agents also act as extrinsic damaging factors to this system which leading to a cause of death or hematopoietic failure [83]. Together, the effects of each compound to hematopoietic system are a critical point that should be analyzed. To overcome this problem, zebrafish is a suitable model for evaluating the effects on hematopoietic system, particularly.

2.3.1. Zebrafish and mammalian hematopoiesis

As mentioned above, zebrafish become an attractive vertebrate model to study in many field researches. The developmental biology of blood is one of systems that zebrafish could be a great representative as vertebrate model. Unlike mammals, zebrafish emerge outstanding benefits such as optical clarity of their body and external fertilization which are easily accessible the development of phenotypes during embryogenesis, while mammals are non-transparent body and intrauterine growth. In case of absence the circulatory system, early stage zebrafish can survive by exchanging the gas via diffusion directly, in contrast, mammals with abnormal circulation die *in utero* [84]. In addition, zebrafish can generate numerous mutants related in hematopoietic defects that leading to a deep understand in this system.

Generally, hematopoiesis of all vertebrates comprise of two waves known as the primitive and definitive waves, respectively. In mammals, the earlier wave establishes in an extraembryonic yolk sac responsible for producing erythrocytes and primitive macrophages. In zebrafish, the first wave occurs at intraembryonic area where is located above the yolk tube; the anterior lateral mesoderm (ALM) and the posterior lateral mesoderm (PLM). These sites become intermediate cell mass (ICM) which is equivalent to an extraembryonic yolk sac in mammals [85]. Like mammals, the primitive wave of zebrafish generates primitive erythroid cell and primitive macrophages at PLM and ALM, respectively. Primitive erythroid cells respond for supporting tissue oxygenation during the embryos growth, while primitive macrophages remodeling the tissue development via apoptosis pathway [81]. Then, progenitor cells enter into the circulation system at 24 hpf and persist until 4 days post fertilization, approximately (Figure 3).



Figure 3 Overall of hematopoiesis of zebrafish in both primitive and definitive wave as well as gene regulation in each development step [21]

To begin the first wave of hematopoietic, several transcription factors play a vital role. The first transcription factor, T-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia (*tal1*) also known as stem cell leukemia (*scl*), is expressed during the 2 to 4 somite stages or 10 hpf both in ALM and PLM. This factor is a marker for a primitive hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) formation. Knocking down the gene, the primitive and definitive wave cannot perform leading to completely loss of all blood linages. In addition, *tal1* knockdown embryos had severely effects in both HSCs formation and endothelial differentiation [86, 87].

Next step of the first wave is conversing stem cells to myeloid and erythroid linages. For erythroid linages, GATA binding protein 1a, gata1a, is expressed at 5somite stage or 12 hpf at PLM. It is crucial for performing erythroid progenitor cells and activating the expression of erythroid-specific genes. The erythroid cells of zebrafish have a flattened elliptical shape and restrained nucleus. Considering the progenitor and mature erythrocyte of this species, proerythroid cells have less cytoplasm and larger nucleus while the mature erythrocytes are distinct from mammalian mature erythrocyte that retaining nucleus whereas mammalian erythrocytes are not nucleated [84]. From previous research, it was shown that mice with lacking gata1a failed to differentiate erythroid progenitor to mature erythroid cells and died during gastrulation phase [88]. The role of gata1a is not only promoting an erythroid, but also suppressing myeloid differentiation. Interestingly, the genes regulation between erythroid and myeloid cell is antagonistic action. In gata1a knockdown studies, it was found severe effects in erythropoiesis and the increasing of myeloid cells which resulting from the blood cells switching their fate and expressing myeloid genes instead. This transformation performs for balancing the amount of primitive erythroid and myeloid cells generation [89].

In the restriction area for myelopoiesis, ALM, the cells in this area generate the early myeloid cells including macrophages and granulocytes. The transcription factor calls spi-1 proto-oncogene b (*spi1b*) plays a key role in controlling myeloid cells development [90, 91]. As described above, primitive erythroid and myeloid regulated genes have a cross inhibitory control. In the absence of *spi1b*, myeloid cells have a potential for differentiating to erythroid cells and maturing to hemoglobin alpha embryonic 1.1 (*hbae1.1*) instead than *mpx* [92].

After that, erythroid progenitor cell develops to mature erythrocyte and then circulates throughout the body for 4 days post fertilization (dpf). Mature erythrocyte expresses erythroid specific gene, *hbae1.1*, which responds for hemoglobin synthesis. Hemoglobin structure is a tetrameric molecules composed of globin subunits which regulated by intrinsic transcription factors and extrinsic signals. Embryo with *hbae1.1* mutation leads to red blood cell anomalies and deficiency of oxygen supply [21, 93].

Subsequently, myeloid progenitor cell commits to mature myelocyte and expresses the granulocyte-specific marker, mpx by 18 hpf [91]. Zebrafish with mpx-deficiency had no an ability to reduce the concentration of H_2O_2 after tissue damaging. Additionally, mpx-deficiency can alter the inflammatory response by impaired the host defense system [94, 95].

Owing to the results from hematopoietic disorder as describe above, the effects of every compound should be completely investigated for avoiding the feasible hematotoxicity. Even though zebrafish and mammals have a few different in hematopoietic system, they have common blood cell types and also strong conservation processes of hematopoiesis [96]. Therefore, zebrafish emerged as a representative model for evaluating a precise understanding in hematopoiesis.

Although AM offers effective properties and gains a lot of popularities among people, the awareness about its toxicity and safety are low leading to the possible hazards. In addition, the effects of this compound on hematopoietic system were not evaluated adequately. Here, this present study aims to examine the effects of AM on hematopoiesis using zebrafish embryos as a model for fulfilling the lacking knowledge and practicing of the safe use of AM.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Methods

3.1.1. Zebrafish maintenance and embryos collecting

All animal procedures were approved by National Science and Technology Development Agency (NSTDA) International Animal Care and Use Committee and all zebrafish were raised in National Nanotechnology Center (Nanotec). Adult zebrafish were housed in controlling system at 28.5 °C, pH 6.0-8.0, conductivity in range of 300-1,500 μ S, with a 14/10 h light/dark photoperiod. Fish were fed by live brine shrimp twice daily both in the morning at 8.00 a.m. and in the evening at 4.00 p.m. To get embryos, natural spawning was done by mating male and female zebrafish. In brief, male and female zebrafish were kept in a hatchery box and separated by a partition in a ratio of 2:2. The next day, a partition had been removed for one hour. Fertilized eggs were selected by using a stereomicroscope and maintained in 10 mL E3 medium (5.0 mM NaCl, 0.17 mM KCl, 0.33 mM CaCl₂•2H₂O and 0.33 mM MgSO₄) in petri dish at room temperature.

3.1.2. Zebrafish embryos acute toxicity assay

Stock solution (5 mM) of alpha-mangostin (AM) was prepared in 100% dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO). The E3 medium was used to dilute the AM stock solution to required final concentrations which were 0, 1.5, 3.0, 4.5, 6.0, 7.5, 9.0, 10.5, and 12.0 μ M with 0.48% DMSO. The concentrations were designed based on the preliminary experiment. According to the previous research, zebrafish embryos could expose to levels of up to 1% DMSO without any sign of toxicities. Therefore, the amount of DMSO in this experiment was safe and did not cause embryonic toxicities

[97]. To perform the acute toxicity assay, the protocol was adopted from Economic Co-operation and Development guideline 236 (OECD 236, 2013). Zebrafish embryos of 4-16 cells stage were selected and placed in a 12-well plate (30 zebrafish embryos per well). Zebrafish embryos had been exposed to AM at different concentrations for 72 h. Later, test solutions were refreshed at every 24 h. The plate was further incubated at 28.5 °C with a 14/10 h light/dark cycle. Dead zebrafish embryos were recorded and removed daily. Morphology and heart rate were observed directly under a stereomicroscope at 72 h incubation. The data were obtained from three independent experiments.

3.1.3. Hemoglobin staining by o-dianisidine solution

For visualizing hemoglobin in erythrocytes, *o*-dianisidine staining was performed as descripted previously in Duan et al. [98]. Briefly, zebrafish embryos were divided into treated and non-treated groups. In each group, zebrafish embryos of 4-16 cells stage were selected and placed in a 12-well plate (30 zebrafish embryos per well). The plate was further incubated at 28.5 °C with a 14/10 h light/dark cycle. Zebrafish embryos had been exposed to AM combined with 0.0015% (w/v) 1-phenyl2-thiourea for 24 h in order to inhibit pigment formation both in treated and non-treated groups. At 72 h exposure, zebrafish embryos were washed by distilled (DI) H₂O three times. Then, the embryos were incubated in 0.6 mg/mL *o*-dianisidine solution with 30% hydrogen peroxide in the dark for 15 min and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline. Then, the embryos were observed and photographed under a stereomicroscopy. To quantify hemoglobin levels, the ImageJ software was used. The rounded shape tool was selected to create the bounding cover hemoglobin positive staining in cardiac regions and then, the average integrated optical density (IOD) was calculated, subsequently.

3.1.4. Gene expression by quantitative reverse transcriptase real-time PCR (qRT-PCR)

To investigate the effect of AM on gene expression, transcriptional levels of five genes (*tal1, gata1a, spi1b, mpx* and *hbae1.1*) related to hematopoietic development were detected. According to acute toxicity testing, 0, 1/2 LC_{50} and LC_{50} of AM were chosen as designed concentrations. The concentration at 1/2 LC_{50} represented no observed adverse effects and LC_{50} represented severe effects. After 72 h exposure, total RNA was extracted from thirty zebrafish embryos per condition by using a RNeasy Plus Mini Kit. The absorbance (Abs) at 260 and 280 was measured by nanodrop 2000/2000c spectrophotometer. The concentration and purity of total RNA could be calculated according to the below formulas. The ratio of A_{260}/A_{280} should be around 2.0 indicating the purification of extracted RNA.

Concentration of total RNA (ng/ μ L) = (Abs₂₆₀ nm) x 40 x dilution factor

Purity of total RNA = Abs_{260} / Abs_{280}

Next, 1 µg of RNA template were conversed to cDNA using iScript Reverse Transcription Supermix for RT-qPCR according to manufacturer's instruction. Quantitative real-time PCR was performed as describe previously in Nugitrangson et al. (2016) on Biorad CFX96 Touch using SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix. Primers for five genes were commercially designed. A reaction mixture for 20 µl final volume consisted of 1x Ssoadvanced universal SYBR green supermix, 1x of each forward and reverse primer, 5 ng cDNA templates, and ultrapure DI H₂O. A reaction was performed under the prime PCR cycling condition: 1 cycle of 95 °C, 2 min for activation, followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C, 5 sec for denaturation, 60 °C, 30 sec for extension, and 65-95 °C, 5 min for performing melting curve (0.5 °C increments). The mRNA expression level of target genes was normalized to the mRNA expression level of a reference gene, *gapdh*, using a comparative C_T method $(2^{-\Delta \Delta C}_T)$. The data were presented in relative gene expression values comparing between control and treated group. All qRt-PCR reactions were performed with three independent experiments.

3.1.5. Protein expression by western blotting

In order to characterize the expression level of hematopoietic relating proteins (Tal1, Gata1a, Spi1b, Mpx and Hbae1.1), western blotting was performed. Zebrafish embryos treated with AM at the concentration of 0, $1/2 LC_{50}$ and LC_{50} were used. After 72 h exposure, the chorions of zebrafish embryos were removed and dechorionated zebrafish embryos were washed three times by ultrapure DI H₂O. Dechorionated zebrafish embryos were centrifuged at 10,000x g, 4 °C for 5 min and the supernatants were then transferred to a new tube. The concentration of total protein was determined by a Pierce BCA protein assay kit with bovine serum albumin standard (Appendix C). Later, 12% sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel (SDS-polyacrylamide gel) was prepared (Appendix B). The amount of 30 µg lysate proteins combining with SDS sample buffer (Appendix B) were heated at 95 °C for 5 min and loaded into 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel, respectively. Subsequently, the gel was electrophoresed at 90 volts for 2 h.

The gel was removed from the glass plates and soaked in transblotting buffer (Appendix A) for 5 min. For activating the membrane, immun-blot polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane was soaked in methanol for 5 min and followed by transblotting buffer, respectively. Protein on the gel was transferred to PVDF membrane by electroblotting in semi-dry condition at 23 V for 0.30 h. For visualizing of protein in membrane, ponceau s solution was used. The membrane was washed in phosphate buffered saline with 0.1% tween (TBST) and followed by incubating with ponceau s solution on agitator for 10 min. The membrane was destained by washing extensively with 0.1% TBST until the protein bands were completely visible. Next, a non-specific protein in blotted PVDF membrane was blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin in 0.1% TBST at 4 °C for 2 h with gently agitation on a shaker. The

blotted membrane was incubated with primary antibody (1 µg/ml Tal1, 1 µg/ml Hbae1.1, 1 µg/ml Gata1a, 1 µg/ml spi1b, 2 µg/ml mpx, and 0.925 µg/ml gapdh) in blocking buffer at 4 °C, overnight. Subsequently, the blotted membrane was washed using 0.1% TBST, 5 min for 3x. Next, the blotted membrane was incubated with a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (0.1 µg/ml mouse and 0.1 µg/ml rabbit) in blocking buffer at room temperature for an hour and washed with 0.1% TBST. After washing the membrane, ECL chemiluminescence reagent was used for visualizing proteins in membrane according to manufacturer's instruction. Briefly, detection solution A and detection solution B were mixed together in an equal volume. The final volume was 0.125 ml/cm² of membrane area. The membrane was incubated in mixed solution for 1 min and drained the excess solution, respectively. Amersham imager 600 was used for visualizing and capturing protein bands. The bands were defined as a selected region in a rectangle shape and measured the intensity using ImageJ software. Protein expression level of target proteins was normalized to Gapdh as an internal control protein. This process was generated in three independent experiments. The details of all used solutions were shown in appendix B.

3.1.6. Statistical analysis

Data were calculated by SPSS software 22.0 and were shown as mean \pm S.D. for mortality rate, heart rate, and IOD of treated and control groups. For relative gene and protein expression, the data were shown as mean \pm S.E.M. All information were distinguished by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) following by Tukey's multiple comparisons. The level of statistical significance was at p < 0.05.

CHAPTER IV RESULT

4.1. The effects of alpha-mangostin (AM) treatment on zebrafish embryos

To investigate the acute toxicity of AM, zebrafish embryos of 4-16 cells stage were exposed with AM for 72 h in various concentrations. In control group (0.48% DMSO), we did not find a mortality or any defect. In AM-treated groups, AM caused embryonic mortality in dose dependent manner. The mortality was 14.4% at 4.5 μ M and reach 100% of mortality at 7.5 μ M (Figure 4A). The median lethal concentration (LC₅₀) of AM at 72 h was 5.76 \pm 0.26 μ M. Moreover, AM significantly decreased the heart rates of the embryos at 6 μ M as compared to that of control group (Figure 4B). Additionally, AM treatment at 4.5 and 6.0 μ M resulted in embryos abnormalities, such as tail malformation, pericardial edema, yolk edema and blood clotting (Figure 4C).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 4 Acute toxicity testing of zebrafish embryos after treated with AM

in different concentrations for 72 h. (A) The percentages of embryo mortality exposed to AM. (B) Heart rate of the embryos. (C) Images of representative zebrafish embryos in treated and untreated groups, the red arrows show malformation that can be visualized. The scale bars are 1 mm. The experiments of AM in all concentrations were obtained from 3 independent experiments and expressed as mean \pm S.D (n=30). (*p<0.05).

4.2. The effects of AM on hemoglobin level

To verify whether AM affected hemoglobin in erythroid cells, mature hemoglobin staining was performed using *o*-dianisidian. Based on the information from acute toxicity testing, two treatment conditions were selected. AM at 3 μ M showed no observed adverse effect but 6 μ M elicited severe effects on morphology. The result showed that embryos in untreated group exhibited hemoglobin positive staining in cardiac region more than treated groups (Figure 5A). For quantification, integral optical density values (IOD) were used to represent hemoglobin positive staining in cardiac section. The result demonstrated that IOD values of control group significantly higher than those of treated group at 6 μ M (Figure 5). Together, the results indicated that AM can decrease hemoglobin levels in the region of cardiac in zebrafish embryos.







จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

4.3. The effects of AM on the expression of hematopoietic genes

To get a closer insight into the mechanism of AM on hematopoiesis, mRNA expression levels that related to hematopoiesis pathway were measured in whole embryos both in treated and untreated groups of AM at 72 h by qRT-PCR. Compared to the control group, no induction effect and statistically different on mRNA expression levels of *tal1* and *gata1a* in treated groups, while the expression levels of *spi1b* were significantly up-regulated only at 3 μ M of AM. The levels of *mpx* were up-regulated in dose dependent manner, whereas *hbae1.1* showed a significant up-regulation at 3 μ M, but not at 6 μ M (Figure 6).



Chulalongkorn University





จุฬาสงกรณมหาวทยาสย Chulalongkorn University

4.4. The effects of AM on the expression of hematopoietic proteins

The expressions of proteins in hematopoiesis pathway were examined using western blot. At 72 h of exposure, the results demonstrated that the translation level of all genes in AM-treated groups have no statistically different from control group. Tal1 and Hbea1.1 proteins slightly dropped at the highest concentration of AM-treated. Subsequently, protein expression levels of Spi1b and Gata1a have the highest value at 3 μ M while the lowest value generated at 6 μ M. In the contrary, in Mpx protein at 6 μ M exhibited the highest level while 3 μ M showed the lowest level of protein expression, respectively, in Mpx protein (Figure 7).







in different concentrations at 72 h. (A) Relative protein expression levels of hematopoietic-related proteins. Gapdh was used as an internal control protein. (B) Representative images of hematopoietic-related proteins band. Values are shown as mean \pm S.E.M of 3 independent experiments (n=30). (*p<0.05)

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

Nowadays, natural products have been widely used among people worldwide. Some people still mainly rely on traditional medicines and use them as an alternative remedy. Unlike the modern medications, herbal substances and related products are easy to find, but some of them have no safety data especially the proper dose [99, 100]. The toxic and health effects of each natural compound must be evaluated to avoid risks. One of the outstanding natural compounds has been isolated from mangosteen, namely alpha-mangostin (AM). Many previous studies have been reported about the protective properties of AM, while the toxicity studies were available in a few reports. Furthermore, the researches often study through the abnormal-induced model for revealing the protective potential. On the other hand, the normal model has been rarely used for studying, therefore, the safety data of AM still unclear.

In this study, the effects of AM on early embryonic development and hematopoiesis were evaluated using zebrafish embryos as a vertebrate model. Zebrafish presented extraordinary advantages to murine models and a suitable alternative. For example, zebrafish embryos grow and develop rapidly with almost completely body pattern and functional organ within 48 hours post fertilization (hpf). In the chemical screening process, zebrafish can produce many eggs that supporting the number of experimental samples; therefore, the experiments can repeat multiple times to prove the result [65]. Interestingly, zebrafish had DMSO limiting dosages higher than cell culture. Hence, the chemical with poor solubility which had to dissolve in the high percentage of DMSO can be treated in zebrafish without the side effects of this solvent [97]. Considering all of the beneficial properties, in this study, zebrafish embryos were used as a model for predicting the effects of the substance. First of all, acute toxicity was tested in zebrafish embryos at the concentrations in a range of $1.5 - 12.0 \mu$ M for screening the possible effects and determination the LC₅₀ value. These concentrations were designed based on the

evaluation of LC₅₀ value. The data showed that AM caused embryonic mortality and malformation, with the LC₅₀ of 5.76 \pm 0.26 μ M at 72 hpf (Figure 4A). The embryonic abnormalities included body malformation, bent tail, blood clotting, pericardial edema and yolk edema (Figure 4B). This result agreed with a previous research from Nugitrangson et al., which also found the compound induced zebrafish embryo mortality with the LC_{50} of 9.4 μ M at 72 h of exposure. The difference could be owing to the different system for maintaining the zebrafish. However, they did not report about the effects on the phenotype of the embryos [101]. In this study, the concentrations of AM were used in the same range of the concentrations in pharmaceutical properties. For instance, AM inhibited the cell growth of the leukemia cell lines (K562, NB4, and U937) at 5.0 – 10.0 µM, 5.0 µM of this compound protected proximal tubule renal epithelial cells (LLC-PK1) from cisplatin CDDP-induced apoptotic death and AM also induced cell death effects on PC12 rat pheochromocytoma cells with the EC_{50} of 4 μ M [102-104]. Importantly, because of the lacking selectivity of some anticancer agents, a normal cell can be destroyed during chemical treated [105]. Therefore, the effects of each compound should be parallelly tested in both normal cells and cancer cell lines. The present study also investigated the heart rate of the zebrafish embryos for assessing the effects of the compound (Figure 4B). It was also found that heart rate was significantly decreasing in the treated embryos at 4.5 and 6.0 μ M. These results indicated the correlation between heart rhythm malfunction and bodies malformation. Explanation of these phenomena was reported by Phungphong et al. The cardiovascular toxicities of AM were studied in rat and rabbit models [106]. The researchers reported the inhibitory potential of AM to cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} -ATPase (SERCA) with the IC₅₀ of 6.47 \pm 0.7 μ M. For inhibiting SERCA, resulted in myocardial relaxation dysfunction which causing the heart malfunction. Together, the results indicated that the compound induced cardiac toxicities on zebrafish embryos [107]. Even AM has many beneficial properties; the toxic effects should not be neglected due to its toxicities to zebrafish embryos. Here, this study is useful for dosage management and safety assessment specifically in food and drug development.

Hematopoiesis is a vital process which regulating blood cells formation in every lineage. Lacking this process leads to a hematological disorder such as anemia and leukemia [78]. To study the effects on this process, zebrafish also emerged as an effective model. Zebrafish offer various features to predict the possible defects in human blood disorder especially the conserving of molecular mechanisms in hematopoiesis to human [78]. Therefore, this study took the benefit of the genetic feature of zebrafish model to demonstrate the chemical effects on hematopoiesis. Since AM induced blood clotting and decreased heart rate, it was highly possible that AM affected to blood cells in the circulatory system. To investigate the effect on hematopoiesis, hemoglobin was detected. AM decreased hemoglobin levels significantly in cardiac region at 6 μ M (Figure 5) indicating that AM had the toxic effect on hematopoiesis. Hemoglobin mainly responds for transporting the gaseous molecules and maintains cellular homeostasis, therefore, decreasing hemoglobin levels resulted in inefficiency of their abilities [108]. Even though it has no previous research reporting about the effect of AM particularly in this system, Lui et al. (2015) found that AM-treated altered rat's platelets activities such as changing their shape, inhibiting aggregation and inducing cytotoxic [57]. Together, it was possible either AM decreased hemoglobin levels in erythrocytes or reduced the number of erythrocytes in zebrafish embryos. Accordingly, further studies are necessary to confirm and get in deep the underlying mechanism for keeping away from hematopoiesis toxicant. However, our results firstly pointed out the toxicity of AM to hemoglobin levels in the cardiac area of zebrafish embryos.

To get a deep insight into the mechanisms of AM on hematopoiesis, the effects of AM on the expression of hematopoietic-related genes, *tal1, spi1b, gata1a, mpx* and *hbae1.1*, in both transcription and translation level. It was shown that AM affected mRNA expressions (Figure 6). The first step of primitive hematopoiesis, *tal1* is a master regulatory gene [87]. The result indicated that AM did not affect HSCs, HSCs formation can be generated normally. The second step of primitive wave is conversing stem cells into the unique linage between erythroid and myeloid cell fates. At 3 μ M, AM slightly increased mRNA expression of *gata1a* and also up-regulated the expression of *spi1b*, significantly. By contrast, AM decreased mRNA

expression in both *gata1a* and *spi1b* at 6 μ M. This finding indicated that AM at sublethal concentration induced mRNA expression whereas reduced the expression of mRNA at the lethal concentration. Beside progenitor regulated genes, mature marker genes, *mpx* and *hbae1.1*, also the possible target genes of AM. Our result demonstrated that AM at 3 μ M also increased the expression of *hbae1.1* and *mpx*, significantly. At 6 μ M, AM markedly increased *mpx* expression but not *heae1.1*. *Spi1b* and *mpx* control primitive myelocyte generation which regarded as pathological protection. The upregulation of these myelocyte related genes might be caused by the tissue-damaging and/or inflammation.

After the study of the effects of AM on hematopoietic protein expression, AM showed no statistical difference in protein expression levels in all samples. For progenitor-related proteins, AM also slightly increased protein expression levels at 3 μ M but dropped the expression of these proteins at 6 μ M. The direction between transcription and translation level were likely to fluctuate in each gene. Previous studies explained the low correlation between mRNA and protein expression that can be affected by various factors such as translational regulating process and protein half-lives [109]. Another factor that might a reason for this phenomenon was the instability of Gapdh protein level. From the result of western blot assay, Gapdh expression levels were reduced in dose-dependent manner (Figure 7). Interestingly, Gapdh played a role in hematopoiesis-related processes such as hemoprotein maturation, heme regulation mechanism and participation in iron homeostasis [110]. From these evident, it was highly possible that Gapdh protein was also AM target; therefore, this protein might not be proper as an internal reference gene. However, gene expression is still a well-known marker for diseases. Transcription level is useful for screening disease-associated genes whereas translation level serves as the mechanisms determination as well as phenotype prediction [111]. Interestingly, Hbae1.1 is a mature erythrocyte marker protein that had no significantly different of its expression after treated with AM, conversely, hemoglobin molecules in the cardiac region were found to decrease their amount. It is possible that AM decreasing only the amounts of hemoglobin without the concomitant decreasing the number of erythrocytes. These consequences could be caused by erythroid heme biosynthesis

disorder. For the disorder was generally described by heme synthesis and degradation. Previous researches reported the factors that have relevance for heme syntheses such as aminolevulinate synthase, ferrochelatase and coproporphyrinogen al. found oxidase [112]. Interestingly, Hanaoka et that knock-down coproporphyrinogen oxidase (CPO) leads to inhibit the production of hemoglobin without reduction of blood cells [113]. Importantly, heme synthesis is important for globin synthesis during erythropoiesis. Disorder in this process could imply erythropoietic interruption. Although AM had no effect on Hbea1.1 protein, there are other mechanisms that associated in erythropoietic regulation. Not only the intrinsic factors, transcription factors, but extrinsic factors like erythropoietin also a key regulation in erythropoiesis. Erythropoietin is a glycoprotein playing a role as an extrinsic factor in erythropoiesis. Knockdown erythropoietin could impair erythropoiesis leading to sever anemia, mortality and tissue hypoxia [114]. However, the effects of AM on hemoglobin regulation have not been reported. Herein, the present study had firstly demonstrated the effects of AM on hemoglobin levels. In summary, it is indicated that AM affected hematopoietic-related genes only in transcription level, by contrast, the translation level can retain its function. For further study, the roles of extrinsic factors and heme biosynthesis pathway are interesting in order to get the mechanism in deeper.

In conclusion, AM affected to hematopoiesis in zebrafish embryos and induced acute toxicities which possible triggered the inflammatory response and led to up-regulation of myeloid regulated genes. In addition, AM reduced hemoglobin levels in cardiac areas without affecting erythroid marker protein. Finally, this study firstly reported the effects of AM on embryonic hematopoiesis in the animal model. All together, we should be aware of the possible risks using AM. The toxicity profiling of AM must be studied in other models before using the compound for clinical trials [80].

For recommendations, in order to develop AM using in clinical trials, dosage management is really important. The outcomes of this research showed the concentration greater than 3 μ M of AM inducing the mortalities, malformations as

well as hematopoiesis malfunction. Therefore, the people who have a problem with the hematopoietic system should carefully use AM.



REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. 2004. WHO guidelines on safety monitoring of herbal medicines in pharmacovigilance systems. Geneva: <u>World Health Organization</u>.
- Tousian Shandiz, H., Razavi, B. M., and Hosseinzadeh, H. 2017. Review of *Garcinia mangostana* and its xanthones in metabolic syndrome and related complications. <u>Phytother Res</u>. 31(8): 1173-1182.
- 3. Liu, S. H., Lee, L. T., Hu, N. Y., et al. 2012. Effects of alpha-mangostin on the expression of anti-inflammatory genes in U937 cells. <u>Chin Med</u>. 7(1): 19.
- Martinez, A., Galano, A., and Vargas, R. 2011. Free radical scavenger properties of alpha-mangostin: thermodynamics and kinetics of HAT and RAF mechanisms. <u>J</u> <u>Phys Chem B</u>. 115(43): 12591-12598.
- 5. Xu, Q., Ma, J., Lei, J., et al. 2014. Alpha-mangostin suppresses the viability and epithelial-mesenchymal transition of pancreatic cancer cells by downregulating the PI3K/Akt pathway. <u>Biomed Res Int</u>. 2014: 546353.
- Jung, H. A., Su, B. N., Keller, W. J., Mehta, R. G., and Kinghorn, A. D. 2006. Antioxidant xanthones from the pericarp of *Garcinia mangostana* (mangosteen). <u>J Agric</u> <u>Food Chem</u>. 54(6): 2077-2082.
- Navarro, V. J., Barnhart, H., Bonkovsky, H. L., et al. 2014. Liver injury from herbals and dietary supplements in the US Drug-induced liver injury network. <u>Hepatology</u>. 60(4): 1399-1408.
- 8. Avigan, M. I., Mozersky, R. P., and Seeff, L. B. 2016. Scientific and regulatory perspectives in herbal and dietary supplement associated hepatotoxicity in the United States. Int J Mol Sci. 17(3): 331.
- 9. Brown, A. C. 2017. Heart toxicity related to herba and dietary supplement: online table of case reports. Part 4 of 5. <u>J Diet Suppl.</u> 15(4): 516-555.
- 10. Brown, A. C. 2017. Kidney toxicity related to herbs and dietary supplements: online table of case reports. Part 3 of 5 series. <u>Food Chem Toxicol.</u> 107: 502-519.
- 11. Jagannathan-Bogdan, M. and Zon, L. I. 2013. Hematopoiesis. <u>Development</u>. 140(12):

2463-2467.

- 12. Cox, T., 2009.Chapter 51 <u>Target Sites: Hematopoietic, in information resources in</u> <u>toxicology</u> (Fourth Edition) Academic Press: San Diego. p. 447-450.
- 13. Ezeh, P. C., Lauer, F. T., Liu, K. J., Hudson, L. G., and Burchiel, S. W. 2015. Arsenite interacts with dibenzo [def, p] chrysene (DBC) at low levels to suppress bone marrow lymphoid progenitors in mice. <u>Biol Trace Elem Res</u>. 166(1): 82-88.
- 14. Fliedner, T., Heit, H., and Pabst, G. 1990. Evaluation and prediction of chemical toxicity using haematopoietic cell renewal systems. In short-term toxicity tests for non-genotoxic effects. John Wiley & Sons Ltd: New Jersey. p. 177-192.
- 15. Robertson, A. L., Avagyan, S., Gansner, J. M., and Zon, L. I. 2016. Understanding the regulation of vertebrate hematopoiesis and blood disorders-big lessons from a small fish. <u>FEBS Lett</u>. 590(22): 4016-4033.
- 16. Howe, K., Clark, M. D., Torroja, C. F., et al. 2013. The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. <u>Nature</u>. 496(7446): 498.
- 17. Davidson, A. J. and Zon, L. I. 2004. The 'definitive' and 'primitive' guide to zebrafish hematopoiesis. <u>Oncogene</u>. 23(43): 7233.
- 18. Berman, J., Hsu, K., and Look, A. T. 2003. Zebrafish as a model organism for blood diseases. <u>Br J Haematol</u>. 123(4): 568-576.
- 19. Payne, E. and Look, T. 2009. Zebrafish modelling of leukaemias. <u>Br J Haematol</u>. 146(3): 247-256.
- 20. Novoa, B. and Figueras, A. 2012. Zebrafish: model for the study of inflammation and the innate immune response to infectious diseases. <u>Adv Exp Med Biol</u>. 946: 253-275.
- 21. Kulkeaw, K. and Sugiyama, D. 2012. Zebrafish erythropoiesis and the utility of fish as models of anemia. <u>Stem Cell Res Ther</u>. 3(6): 55.
- 22. WHO expert committee on specifications for pharmaceutical preparations. meeting (2004 : Geneva, Switzerland) and World Health Organization. (2005). WHO expert committee on specifications for pharmaceutical preparations: thirty-ninth report. Geneva : World Health Organization.
- 23. Peres, V., Nagem, T. J., and de Oliveira, F. F. 2000. Tetraoxygenated naturally occurring xanthones. <u>Phytochemistry</u>. 55(7): 683-710.

- Pedraza-Chaverri, J., Cardenas-Rodriguez, N., Orozco-Ibarra, M., and Perez-Rojas, J. M.
 2008. Medicinal properties of mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana*). <u>Food Chem</u> <u>Toxicol</u>. 46(10): 3227-3239.
- 25. Mohamed, M.-E. F. and Frye, R. F. 2011. Effects of herbal supplements on drug glucuronidation. Review of clinical, animal, and *in vitro* studies. <u>Planta Med.</u> 77(4): 311.
- 26. Suksamrarn, S., Komutiban, O., Ratananukul, P., et al. 2006. Cytotoxic prenylated xanthones from the young fruit of *Garcinia mangostana*. <u>Chem Pharm Bull</u>. 54(3): 301-305.
- 27. Steinmetz, K. A. and Potter, J. D. 1996. Vegetables, fruit, and cancer prevention: a review. J Am Diet Assoc. 96(10): 1027-1039.
- 28. Yang, J., Liu, R. H., and Halim, L. 2009. Antioxidant and antiproliferative activities of common edible nut seeds. <u>LWT-Food Sci Technol.</u> 42(1): 1-8.
- 29. Schmid, W. 1855. Ueber das mangostin. <u>Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie</u>. 93(1): 83-88.
- 30. Dragendorff, O. 1930. Über das Harz von *Garcinia Mangostana* L. <u>Justus Liebigs</u> <u>Annalen der Chemie</u>. 482(1): 280-301.
- 31. Murakami, M. 1932. Über die konstitution des mangostins. <u>Justus Liebigs Annalen</u> <u>der Chemie</u>. 496(1): 122-151.
- 32. Walker, E. B. 2007. HPLC analysis of selected xanthones in mangosteen fruit. <u>J Sep</u> <u>Sci.</u> 30(9): 1229-1234.
- El-Gamal, M. I. and Oh, C.-H. 2014. Synthesis, *in vitro* antiproliferative activity, and in silico studies of fused tricyclic coumarin sulfonate derivatives. <u>Eur J Med Chem.</u> 84: 68-76.
- Pratheeshkumar, P., Son, Y.-O., Korangath, P., Manu, K. A., and Siveen, K. S. 2015.
 Phytochemicals in cancer prevention and therapy. <u>BioMed Res Int.</u> 2015: 324021.
- 35. Johnson, J. J., Petiwala, S. M., Syed, D. N., et al. 2011. Alpha-Mangostin, a xanthone from mangosteen fruit, promotes cell cycle arrest in prostate cancer and decreases xenograft tumor growth. <u>Carcinogenesis</u>. 33(2): 413-419.

36. Hsieh, S. C., Huang, M. H., Cheng, C. W., et al. 2013. Alpha-Mangostin induces

mitochondrial dependent apoptosis in human hepatoma SK-Hep-1 cells through inhibition of p38 MAPK pathway. <u>Apoptosis</u>. 18(12): 1548-1560.

- 37. Jittiporn, K., Suwanpradid, J., Patel, C., et al. 2014. Anti-angiogenic actions of the mangosteen polyphenolic xanthone derivative alpha-mangostin. <u>Microvasc Res.</u> 93: 72-79.
- 38. Matsumoto, K., Akao, Y., Kobayashi, E., et al. 2003. Induction of apoptosis by xanthones from mangosteen in human leukemia cell lines. <u>J Nat Prod</u>. 66(8): 1124-1127.
- 39. Lee, H. N., Jang, H. Y., Kim, H. J., et al. 2016. Antitumor and apoptosis-inducing effects of alpha-mangostin extracted from the pericarp of the mangosteen fruit (*Garcinia mangostana* L.) in YD-15 tongue mucoepidermoid carcinoma cells. Int J Mol Med. 37(4): 939-948.
- 40. Nabandith, V., Suzui, M., Morioka, T., et al. 2004. Inhibitory effects of crude alphamangostin, a xanthone derivative, on two different categorie of colon preneoplastic lesions induced by 1, 2-dimethylhydrazine in the rat. <u>Asian Pac J</u> <u>Cancer Prev.</u> 5(4): 433-438.
- 41. Sánchez-Pérez, Y., Morales-Bárcenas, R., García-Cuellar, C. M., et al. 2010. The alphamangostin prevention on cisplatin-induced apoptotic death in LLC-PK1 cells is associated to an inhibition of ROS production and p53 induction. <u>Chem Biol</u> <u>Interact</u>. 188(1): 144-150.
- 42. López-Alarcón, C. and Denicola, A. 2013. Evaluating the antioxidant capacity of natural products: a review on chemical and cellular-based assays. <u>Anal Chim</u> <u>Acta.</u> 763: 1-10.
- 43. Devi Sampath, P. and Vijayaraghavan, K. 2007. Cardioprotective effect of alphamangostin, a xanthone derivative from mangosteen on tissue defense system against isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction in rats. <u>J Biochem Mol</u> <u>Toxicol.</u> 21(6): 336-339.
- 44. Buelna-Chontal, M., Correa, F., Hernández-Reséndiz, S., Zazueta, C., and Pedraza-Chaverri, J. 2011. Protective effect of alpha-mangostin on cardiac reperfusion damage by attenuation of oxidative stress. J Med Food. 14(11): 1370-1374.

45. Fang, Y., Su, T., Qiu, X., et al. 2016. Protective effect of alpha-mangostin against

oxidative stress induced-retinal cell death. Sci Rep. 6: 21018.

- 46. Xie, Z., Sintara, M., Chang, T., and Ou, B. 2015. Daily consumption of a mangosteenbased drink improves in vivo antioxidant and anti-inflammatory biomarkers in healthy adults: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. <u>Food Sci Nutr</u>. 3(4): 342-348.
- 47. Sherwood, E. R. and Toliver-Kinsky, T. 2004. Mechanisms of the inflammatory response. <u>Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol.</u> 18(3): 385-405.
- 48. Watzl, B. 2008. Anti-inflammatory effects of plant-based foods and of their constituents. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. 78(6): 293-298.
- 49. Gutierrez-Orozco, F., Chitchumroonchokchai, C., Lesinski, G. B., Suksamrarn, S., and Failla, M. L. 2013. Alpha-mangostin: anti-inflammatory activity and metabolism by human cells. <u>J Agric Food Chem</u>. 61(16): 3891-3900.
- 50. Zou, W., Yin, P., Shi, Y., et al. 2018. A novel biological role of alpha-Mangostin *via* TAK1–NF-KB Pathway against Inflammatory. <u>Inflammation</u>. 1-10.
- 51. Nishant, T., Sathish Kumar, D., and Arun Kumar, P. M. 2011. Role of pharmacokinetic studies in drug discovery. <u>J Bioequiv Availab</u>. 3: 263-267.
- 52. Du Souich, P., Orme, M., and Erill, S. 2004. The IUPHAR Compendium of Basic Principles for Pharmacological Research in Humans <u>IUPHAR</u>: Kansas. pp. 1-337.
- 53. Li, L., Brunner, I., Han, A. R., et al. 2011. Pharmacokinetics of alpha-mangostin in rats after intravenous and oral application. <u>Mol Nutr Food Res.</u> 55(S1): S67-S74.
- 54. Gutierrez-Orozco, F. and Failla, M. L. 2013. Biological activities and bioavailability of mangosteen xanthones: a critical review of the current evidence. <u>Nutrients</u>. 5(8): 3163-3183.
- 55. Choi, Y. H., Han, S. Y., Kim, Y. J., Kim, Y. M., and Chin, Y. W. 2014. Absorption, tissue distribution, tissue metabolism and safety of alpha-mangostin in mangosteen extract using mouse models. <u>Food Chem Toxicol.</u> 66: 140-146.
- 56. Ibrahim, M. Y., Hashim, N. M., Mohan, S., et al. 2015. Alpha-mangostin from *Cratoxylum arborescens*: an *in vitro* and *in vivo* toxicological evaluation. <u>Arabian</u> <u>J Chem.</u> 8(1): 129-137.
- 57. Liu, Y., Park, J. M., Chang, K. H., Chin, Y. W., and Lee, M. Y. 2015. Alpha-and gammamangostin cause shape changes, inhibit aggregation and induce cytolysis of rat

platelets. Chem Biol Interact. 240: 240-248.

- 58. Michelson, A. D. 2010. Antiplatelet therapies for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. <u>Nat Rev Drug Discov.</u> 9(2): 154.
- 59. Talwar, P. K. 1991. <u>Inland Fishes of India and Adjacent Countries</u>. Vol. 2 CRC Press: Florida. pp. 543-1097.
- 60. Arunachalam, M., Raja, M., Vijayakumar, C., Malaiammal, P., and Mayden, R. L. 2013. Natural history of zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) in India. <u>Zebrafish</u>. 10(1): 1-14.
- 61. Parichy, D. M. 2006. Evolution of danio pigment pattern development. <u>Heredity</u>. 97(3): 200.
- 62. Spence, R., Gerlach, G., Lawrence, C., and Smith, C. 2008. The behaviour and ecology of the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. <u>Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc.</u> 83(1): 13-34.
- 63. Parichy, D. M. 2015. The natural history of model organisms: advancing biology through a deeper understanding of zebrafish ecology and evolution. <u>Elife</u>. 4: e05635.
- 64. Devlin, R. H. and Nagahama, Y. 2002. Sex determination and sex differentiation in fish: an overview of genetic, physiological, and environmental influences. <u>Aquaculture</u>. 208(3-4): 191-364.
- 65. Kimmel, C. B., Ballard, W. W., Kimmel, S. R., Ullmann, B., and Schilling, T. F. 1995. Stages of embryonic development of the zebrafish. <u>Dev Dyn</u>. 203(3): 253-310.
- 66. Grunwald, D. J. and Eisen, J. S. 2002. Headwaters of the zebrafish-emergence of a new model vertebrate. <u>Nat Rev Genet.</u> 3(9): 717.
- 67. Hill, A. J., Teraoka, H., Heideman, W., and Peterson, R. E. 2005. Zebrafish as a model vertebrate for investigating chemical toxicity. <u>Toxicol Sci</u>. 86(1): 6-19.
- 68. Lin, C. Y., Chiang, C. Y., and Tsai, H. J. 2016. Zebrafish and medaka: new model organisms for modern biomedical research. <u>J Biomed Sci</u>. 23(1): 19.
- 69. Sarasamma, S., Varikkodan, M. M., Liang, S.-T., et al. 2017. Zebrafish: a premier vertebrate model for biomedical research in Indian scenario. <u>Zebrafish</u>. 14(6): 589-605.
- 70. Varshney, G. K., Lu, J., Gildea, D. E., et al. 2013. A large-scale zebrafish gene knockout resource for the genome-wide study of gene function. <u>Genome Res.</u> 23(4): 727-735.

- 71. Perlin, J. R., Robertson, A. L., and Zon, L. I. 2017. Efforts to enhance blood stem cell engraftment: Recent insights from zebrafish hematopoiesis. <u>J Exp Med</u>. 214(10): 2817-2827.
- 72. Hill, A., Howard, C., and Cossins, A. 2002. Efficient embedding technique for preparing small specimens for stereological volume estimation: zebrafish larvae. <u>J Microsc.</u> 206(3): 179-181.
- 73. Incardona, J. P., Collier, T. K., and Scholz, N. L. 2004. Defects in cardiac function precede morphological abnormalities in fish embryos exposed to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. <u>Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.</u> 196(2): 191-205.
- 74. Vargesson, N. 2013. Thalidomide embryopathy: an enigmatic challenge. <u>ISRN Dev</u> <u>Biol.</u> 2013: 241016.
- 75. Knobloch, J. r., Shaughnessy Jr, J. D., and Ruther, U. 2007. Thalidomide induces limb deformities by perturbing the Bmp/Dkk1/Wnt signaling pathway. <u>FASEB J.</u>21(7): 1410-1421.
- 76. Therapontos, C., Erskine, L., Gardner, E. R., Figg, W. D., and Vargesson, N. 2009. Thalidomide induces limb defects by preventing angiogenic outgrowth during early limb formation. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.</u> 106(21): 8573-8578.
- 77. Ito, T., Ando, H., Suzuki, T., et al. 2010. Identification of a primary target of thalidomide teratogenicity. <u>Science</u>. 327(5971): 1345-1350.
- 78. Gore, A. V., Pillay, L. M., Venero Galanternik, M., and Weinstein, B. M. 2018. The zebrafish: a fintastic model for hematopoietic development and disease. <u>Wiley</u> <u>Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol</u>. 7(3): e312.
- 79. Ciau-Uitz, A., Monteiro, R., Kirmizitas, A., and Patient, R. 2014. Developmental hematopoiesis: ontogeny, genetic programming and conservation. <u>Exp Hematol</u>. 42(8): 669-683.
- 80. Shivdasani, R. A. and Orkin, S. 1996. The transcriptional control of hematopoiesis. <u>Blood</u>. 87(10): 4025-4039.
- 81. Orkin, S. H. and Zon, L. I. 2008. Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. <u>Cell</u>. 132(4): 631-644.
- 82. Juul, S. E. 2005. Developmental Biology of the Hematologic System, in Avery's

Diseases of the Newborn (Eighth Edition) Elsevier: Amsterdam. pp. 1135-1144.

- 83. Pyszel, A., Wrobel, T., Szuba, A., and Andrzejak, R. 2005. Effect of metals, benzene, pesticides and ethylene oxide on the haematopoietic system. <u>Med Pr.</u> 56(3): 249-255.
- 84. Weinstein, B. M., Schier, A. F., Abdelilah, S., et al. 1996. Hematopoietic mutations in the zebrafish. <u>Development</u>. 123(1): 303-309.
- 85. Davidson, A. J. and Zon, L. I. 2004. The 'definitive' and 'primitive' guide to zebrafish hematopoiesis. <u>Oncogene</u>. 23(43): 7233-7246.
- 86. Porcher, C., Swat, W., Rockwell, K., et al. 1996. The T cell leukemia oncoprotein SCL/tal-1 is essential for development of all hematopoietic lineages. <u>Cell</u>. 86(1): 47-57.
- B7. Dooley, K. A., Davidson, A. J., and Zon, L. I. 2005. Zebrafish scl functions independently in hematopoietic and endothelial development. <u>Dev Biol.</u> 277(2): 522-536.
- 88. Fujiwara, Y., Browne, C. P., Cunniff, K., Goff, S. C., and Orkin, S. H. 1996. Arrested development of embryonic red cell precursors in mouse embryos lacking transcription factor GATA-1. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.</u> 93(22): 12355-12358.
- 89. Galloway, J. L., Wingert, R. A., Thisse, C., Thisse, B., and Zon, L. I. 2005. Loss of gata1 but not gata2 converts erythropoiesis to myelopoiesis in zebrafish embryos. <u>Dev</u> <u>Cell</u>. 8(1): 109-116.
- 90. Lieschke, G. J., Oates, A. C., Paw, B. H., et al. 2002. Zebrafish SPI-1 (PU. 1) marks a site of myeloid development independent of primitive erythropoiesis: implications for axial patterning. <u>Dev Biol</u>. 246(2): 274-295.
- 91. Bennett, C. M., Kanki, J. P., Rhodes, J., et al. 2001. Myelopoiesis in the zebrafish, Danio rerio. <u>Blood</u>. 98(3): 643-651.
- 92. Rhodes, J., Hagen, A., Hsu, K., et al. 2005. Interplay of pu. 1 and gata1 determines myelo-erythroid progenitor cell fate in zebrafish. <u>Dev Cell</u>. 8(1): 97-108.
- 93. Amatruda, J. F. and Zon, L. I. 1999. Dissecting hematopoiesis and disease using the zebrafish. <u>Dev Biol</u>. 216(1): 1-15.
- 94. Wang, K., Fang, X., Ma, N., et al. 2015. Myeloperoxidase-deficient zebrafish show an augmented inflammatory response to challenge with *Candida albicans*. <u>Fish</u>

Shellfish Immunol. 44(1): 109-116.

- 95. Pase, L., Layton, J. E., Wittmann, C., et al. 2012. Neutrophil-delivered myeloperoxidase dampens the hydrogen peroxide burst after tissue wounding in zebrafish. <u>Curr Biol</u>. 22(19): 1818-1824.
- 96. Traver, D., Paw, B. H., Poss, K. D., et al. 2003. Transplantation and *in vivo* imaging of multilineage engraftment in zebrafish bloodless mutants. <u>Nat Immunol</u>. 4(12): 1238.
- 97. Maes, J., Verlooy, L., Buenafe, O. E., et al. 2012. Evaluation of 14 organic solvents and carriers for screening applications in zebrafish embryos and larvae. <u>PloS</u> <u>one</u>. 7(10): e43850.
- 98. Duan, J., Yu, Y., Li, Y., et al. 2016. Low-dose exposure of silica nanoparticles induces cardiac dysfunction via neutrophil-mediated inflammation and cardiac contraction in zebrafish embryos. <u>Nanotoxicology</u>. 10(5): 575-585.
- 99. Bandaranayake, W. M. 2006. Quality control: screening, toxicity, and regulation of herbal drugs, in modern phytomedicine: turning medicinal plants into drugs, <u>Wiley Online Library</u>: Germany. pp. 25-57.
- 100. Ekor, M. 2014. The growing use of herbal medicines: issues relating to adverse reactions and challenges in monitoring safety. <u>Front Pharmacol.</u> 4: 177.
- 101. Nugitrangson, P., Puthong, S., Iempridee, T., et al. 2016. *In vitro* and *in vivo* characterization of the anticancer activity of Thai stingless bee (*Tetragonula laeviceps*) cerumen. <u>Exp Biol Med (Maywood)</u>. 241(2): 166-176.
- 102. Matsumoto, K., Akao, Y., Kobayashi, E., et al. 2003. Induction of apoptosis by xanthones from mangosteen in human leukemia cell lines. <u>J Nat Prod.</u> 66(8): 1124-1127.
- 103. Sánchez-Pérez, Y., Morales-Bárcenas, R., García-Cuellar, C. M., et al. 2010. The alpha-mangostin prevention on cisplatin-induced apoptotic death in LLC-PK1 cells is associated to an inhibition of ROS production and p53 induction. <u>Chem Biol Interact.</u> 188(1): 144-150.
- 104. Sato, A., Fujiwara, H., Oku, H., Ishiguro, K., and Ohizumi, Y. 2004. Alpha-mangostin induces Ca²⁺-ATPase-dependent apoptosis via mitochondrial pathway in PC12 cells. <u>J Pharmacol Sci.</u> 95(1): 33-40.

- 105. Fraczkowska, K., Bacia, M., Przybyło, M., et al. 2018. Alterations of biomechanics in cancer and normal cells induced by doxorubicin. <u>Biomed Pharmacother.</u> 97: 1195-1203.
- 106. Phungphong, S., Kijtawornrat, A., de Tombe, P. P., et al. 2017. Acute inhibitory effect of alpha-mangostin on sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium-ATPase and myocardial relaxation. <u>J Biochem Mol Toxicol.</u> 31(10): e21942.
- 107. Phungphong, S., Kijtawornrat, A., de Tombe, P. P., et al. 2017. Acute inhibitory effect of alpha-mangostin on sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium-ATPase and myocardial relaxation. <u>J Biochem Mol Toxicol</u>. 31(10).
- 108. Quaye, I. K. 2015. Extracellular hemoglobin: the case of a friend turned foe. <u>Front</u> <u>Physiol.</u> 6: 96.
- 109. Nie, L., Wu, G., and Zhang, W. 2006. Correlation of mRNA expression and protein abundance affected by multiple sequence features related to translational efficiency in *Desulfovibrio vulgaris*: a quantitative analysis. <u>Genetics</u>. 174(4): 2229-2243.
- 110. Chakravarti, R., Aulak, K. S., Fox, P. L., and Stuehr, D. J. 2010. GAPDH regulates cellular heme insertion into inducible nitric oxide synthase. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U</u> <u>S A.</u> 107(42): 18004-18009.
- 111. Kendrick, N. 2014. A genes mRNA level does not usually predict its protein level. Kendrick Lab, Inc: Madison. pp. 1-8.
- 112. Dailey, H. A. and Meissner, P. N. 2013. Erythroid heme biosynthesis and its disorders. <u>CSH Perspect Med</u>. a011676.
- 113. Hanaoka, R., Katayama, S., Dawid, I. B., and Kawahara, A. 2006. Characterization of the heme synthesis enzyme coproporphyrinogen oxidase (CPO) in zebrafish erythrogenesis. <u>Genes Cells</u>. 11(3): 293-303.
- 114. Paffett-Lugassy, N., Hsia, N., Fraenkel, P. G., et al. 2007. Functional conservation of erythropoietin signaling in zebrafish. <u>Blood</u>. 110(7): 2718-2726.



APPENDIX A

1. Materials

1.1 Chemicals

2-Mercaptoethanol (C₂H₆OS, M.W. 78.13), Sigma-Aldrich, USA 3-Amino benzoic acid ethyl ester (C₉H₁₁NO₂, M.W. 165.19), Sigma-Aldrich, USA 30% Acrylamide solution (C₃H₅NO, M.W. 71.08), PanReac Applichem, Germany 30% Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂, M.W. 34.01), Merck, USA Alpha-mangostin (C₂₄H₂₆O₆, M.W. 410.46), catalog # 6147-11-1, Sigma-Aldrich, USA Ammonium persulphate ((NH₄)₂S₂O₈, M.W. 228.20), Sigma-Aldrich, USA Antibody, Abcam, UK

Anti-gapdh antibody [EPR16891], catalog # ab181602 Anti-gata1 antibody, catalog # ab85466 Anti-hemoglobin subunit alpha antibody [EPR3608], catalog # ab92492 Anti-myeloperoxidase antibody, catalog # ab210563 Anti-pu.1/spi1 antibody, catalog # ab209983 Anti-tal1 antibody, catalog # ab172144 Goat anti-mouse IgG H&L (HRP), catalog # ab6789

Goat anti-rabbit IgG H&L (HRP), catalog # ab6721 Ammonium persulfate ((NH₄)₂S₂O₈, M.W. 228.18), Sigma-Aldrich, USA Bovine serum albumin, Sigma-Aldrich, USA Bromophenol blue ($C_{19}H_{10}Br_4O_5S$, M.W. 669.96), Sigma-Aldrich, USA Calcium chloride dihydrate (CaCl₂•2H₂O, M.W. 147.01), Sigma-Aldrich, USA Dimethyl sulfoxide (C_2H_6OS , M.W. 78.13), VER Life Science, USA Ethanol (C_2H_6O , M.W. 46.07), Merck, USA ECL chemiluminescence reagent, catalog # RPN2209, GE Healthcare, USA Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid, ($C_{10}H_{16}N_2O_8$, M.W. 292.24), Sigma-Aldrich, USA Glycerol ($C_3H_8O_3$, M.W. 92.09), Sigma-Aldrich, USA Glycine ($C_2H_5NO_2$, M.W. 75.07), Biorad, USA Hydrochloric acid (HCl, M.W. 36.46), Merck, USA Magnesium sulfate (MgSO₄, M.W. 120.37), PanReac Applichem, Germany

Methanol (CH₃OH, M.W. 32.04), Fisher Chemical, USA

Methyl cellulose, catalog # 9004-67-5, Sigma-Aldrich, USA

N,N,N',N'-tetramethyle
thylenediamine (C $_6$ H $_{16}$ N $_2$, M.W. 116.24), PanReac Applichem, Germany

N-Phenylthiourea (C₇H₈N₂S, M.W. 152.22), Sigma-Aldrich, USA

Nonidet P-40, catalog # 9016-45-9, Sigma-Aldrich, USA

o-Dianisidine (C₁₄H₁₆N₂O₂, M.W. 244.29), Sigma-Aldrich, USA

Paraformaldehyde (CH₄O₂, M.W. 48.0), Sigma-Aldrich, USA

Pierce BCA protein assay kit, catalog # 23227, Thermo Scientific, USA

Ponceau S solution (C₂₂H₁₂N₄Na₄O₁₃S₄, M.W. 760.57), catalog# 6226-7905,

Sigma-Aldrich, USA

Potassium chloride (KCl, M.W. 74.55), Merck, USA

Precious plus protein dual color standard, catalog # 1610374, Biorad, USA

PrimePCR SYBR green assay for zebrafish, Biorad, USA

gapdh, assay id: qDreCED0021000

gata1, assay id: qDreCID0013676

mpx, assay id: qDreCID0017849

alpha-globin, assay id: qDreCID0018899

pu.1, assay id: qDreCID0004109

tal1, assay id: gDreCID004320

Protease inhibitors cocktails, catalog # P8340, Sigma-Aldrich, USA

Sodium acetate (C₂H₃NaO₂, M.W. 82.03), Sigma-Aldrich, USA

Sodium chloride (NaCl, M.W. 58.44), Merck, USA

Sodium deoxycholate (C₂₄H₄₀O₄, M.W. 392.57), Sigma-Aldrich, USA

Sodium dodecyl sulphate (NaC₁₂H₂₅SO₄, M.W. 288.37), Biorad, USA

Ssoadvanced universal SYBR green supermix, catalog # 172-5271, Biorad, USA

Tris (C₄H₁₁NO₃, M.W. 121.14), Biorad, USA

Triton X-100, catalog # 9002-93-1, Sigma-Aldrich, USA

Tween-20, catalog # 1706531, Biorad, USA

RNeasy plus mini kit, catalog # 74134, Qiagen, Germany

Ultra-pure distilled (DI) H₂O, catalog # 10977015, Invitrogen, USA

1.2 Instruments

Auto pipettes (0.1-2.5, 0.5-10.0, 2.0-20.0, 10.0-100.0, 20.0-200.0, and 100.0-1,000.0 μL), Eppendorf, Germany Centrifuge tube (15 and 50 mL), Corning Incorporated, USA Electrophoresis transfer cell, Mini –PROTEAN Tetra cell 2-Gel system, catalog # 1658005, Biorad, USA Extra thick blot paper, catalog # 1703966, Biorad, USA Fish hatchery box, AG global sourcing solutions, Philippines Gel documentation, Amersham imager 600, GE Healthcare, USA Glassware (Beaker, volumetric cylinder, and glass bottle), Schott Duran, Germany Hard shell PCR plate, catalog # hss9601, Biorad, USA High speed homogenizer, PRO-200, Sonics and Materials, USA High speed refrigerated micro centrifuge, MX-305, Tomy Digital Biology, Japan Immun-blot polyvinylidene difluoride, catalog # 1620177, Biorad, USA Incubator, Metrology Technical, Thailand Microplate reader, Spextramax M5, Molecular Devices, USA Micro tube (0.2, 0.6, 1.5, and 2.0 mL), Axygen Scientific, USA Mini centrifuge, MC-6, A and E Lab, UK Mini shaker, PSU-2T, Biosan Laboratory, USA Nanodrop, 2000/2000c spectrophotometer, Thermo Scientific, USA PCR plate sealing film, catalog # MSB1001, Biorad, USA Pipette tips (0.5–10.0, 1.0–100.0, 1.0–200.0, and 1.0-1,000.0 µL), Axygen Scientific, USA Petri dishes, Corning Incorporated, USA Power supply, Powerpac HC, Biorad, USA Real time PCR detection system, CFX96 Touch, Biorad, USA Rocker shaker, MR-12, Biosan Laboratory, USA Semidry transfer cell, catalog # 170-3940, Biorad, USA Stereo microscopes, S7X7 and SZX16, Olympus, Japan Tweezers, Electron Microscopy Sciences, USA

Transfer pipette, Biologix, USA

Thermal cycler, T100, Biorad, USA

Thermo mixer, Thermomixer R Mixer, Eppendorf, Germany

Vortex, SI-0236, Scientific Industries, USA

Well plate, Corning Incorporated, USA

Western blot equipment (casting frames, combs, 0.75 mm. shot plates and spacer plates), Biorad, USA

Zebrafish housing system AB-074, Yakos65, Taiwan



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

APPENDIX B

Reagents for preparing western blot assay

1. Lysis buffer (100 mL)

Deionized water	84.0 mL
10% Sodium dodecyl sulphate	1.0 mL
10% Sodium deoxycholate	5.0 mL
Nonidet P-40	1.0 mL
1 M Tris, pH 8.0	5.0 mL
0.5 M Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid, pH 8.0	1.0 mL
5 M Sodium chloride	3.0 mL

After mixing all ingredients, 1% protease inhibitor cocktail was freshly added before using.

2. 2X SDS sample buffer (10 mL)	
1 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8	1.0 mL
10% Sodium dodecyl sulphate	4.0 mL
Glycerol	2.0 mL
2-Merceptoethanol	2.5 mL
1% Bromophenol blue	0.5 mL
3. SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	
3.1 12% Separating gel (15 mL)	
30% Acrylamide solution	6.0 mL
1.5 M Tris, pH 8.8	3.9 mL
10% Sodium dodecyl sulphate	0.15 mL
Deionized water	4.8 mL
10% Ammonium persulphate (APS)	0.15 mL
N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	0.015 ml

TEMED and APS were lately added before pouring the gel because the gel solution will be polymerized quickly after adding.

3.2 3% Stacking gel	
30% Acrylamide solution	0.804 mL
0.5 M Tris, pH 6.6	3.9 mL
10% Sodium dodecyl sulphate	0.60 mL
Deionized water	3.57 mL
10% Ammonium persulphate (APS)	0.60 mL
N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	0.006 mL
4. 10x Electrophoresis buffer (1,000 mL)	
Tris	24.4 g
Glycine	114.7 g
Sodium dodecyl sulphate	8.0 g
Deionized water to 1,000 mL	
5. 10x Tris buffer saline with 0.1% tween (1,000 mL)	
Tris	30.0 g
Sodium chloride	88.0 g
Potassium chloride	0.20 g
Tween-20	1.0 mL
Deionized water to 1,000 mL	
6. Transblotting buffer (1,000 mL)	
Tris จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย	3.03 g
Glycine CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY	14.4 g
10% Sodium dodecyl sulphate	10.0 mL
Methanol	200.0 mL
Deionized water to 1,000 mL	

APPENDIX C

Bovine serum albumin standard curve was performed to determine protein concentration.



APPENDIX D

Toxic effects	control	1.5 μM	3.0 μM	4.5 μΜ	6.0 μM
Tail malformation	0	1.19	1.19	77.51	94.87
Yolk edema	0	2.38	0	53.41	93.73
Blood clotting	0	0	0	7.99	38.12
Pericardial edema	0	0	0	7.11	23.12

Malformation rate of zebrafish embryos after treated with AM for 72 h.



Chulalongkorn University

VITA

NAME	Wannakarn Kitipaspallop
DATE OF BIRTH	20 April 1994
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Chulalongkorn University
HOME ADDRESS	102/790, Mueang Samutprakarn district, Samutprakarn 10270
PUBLICATION	"Acute toxicity and teratogenicity of $oldsymbol{\alpha}$ -mangostin in zebrafish embryos" in Experimental Biology and Medicine.
AWARD RECEIVED	สงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย